



The toxicity of selected amines and secondary products to aquatic organisms

A review







Norwegian Institute for Water Research

- an institute in the Environmental Research Alliance of Norway

REPORT

Main Office

Gaustadalléen 21 NO-0349 Oslo, Norway Phone (47) 22 18 51 00 Telefax (47) 22 18 52 00 Internet: www.niva.no

Regional Office, Sørlandet

Televeien 3 NO-4879 Grimstad, Norway Phone (47) 22 18 51 00 Telefax (47) 37 04 45 13

Regional Office, Østlandet

Sandvikaveien 41 NO-2312 Ottestad, Norway Phone (47) 22 18 51 00 Telefax (47) 62 57 66 53

Regional Office, Vestlandet

P.O.Box 2026 NO-5817 Bergen, Norway Phone (47) 22 18 51 00 Telefax (47) 55 23 24 95

Regional Office Central

P.O.Box 1266 NO-7462 Trondheim Phone (47) 22 18 51 00 Telefax (47) 73 54 63 87

Title The toxicity of selected amines and secondary products to aquatic organisms: A review	Serial No. 5698-2008	Date 13/11/08
organisms. A review	Report No. Sub-No. O-28285	Pages Price 25
Author(s) Steven Brooks	Topic group Ecotoxicology and Risk Assessment	Distribution
	Geographical area Norway	Printed CopyCat AS

Client(s)	Client ref.

Abstract

This is a review of the current available literature on the ecotoxicity of selected amines and secondary products to freshwater animals and plants. This review is not a comprehensive list of amine toxicity, but focuses on the toxicity of compounds that will be potentially emitted to the environment by the process of CO₂ capture using selected amine compounds (MEA, MDEA, AMP, PIPA). The main secondary products include amides (formamide and acetamide), nitrosamines and nitramines. In some cases ecotoxicity data on the specific chemicals are limited or unavailable. Of the data that are available the most sensitive response to amine exposure was found in chronic studies with fish and algae with a LOEC of 0.5 mg/L MDEA and 0.75 mg/L MEA respectively. For nitrosamines, the most toxic effect was found in algae with a LOEC of 0.025 mg/L NDMA, which was the lowest effect concentration found for all compounds and test species. The highest toxicity of nitramines was found at 0.2 mg/L and 0.4 mg/L CL-20 in fish and invertebrates, respectively. Due to the limited data available for many of the chemicals, high assessment factors were applied based on the EU technical guidance document on risk assessment (ECB, 2003). Using the simple risk assessment equation (PEC/PNEC = RF), it was estimated that environmental concentrations that exceed the following threshold concentrations could potentially cause environmental harm (i.e. 7.5 µg/L MEA, 20 µg/L AMP, 5 µg/L MDEA, 100 µg/L PIPA, 24 µg/L amides, 0.025 µg/L nitrosamine, 0.2 µg/L nitramine). Nitrosamines and nitramines were the most toxic with the highest risk for causing environmental harm. However, most of the toxicity data for these two groups was not for the specific chemicals calculated in Task 3, but rather inferred toxicity from related compounds. Therefore, future ecotoxicity work should focus on these specific, potentially high risk chemicals for which there are no ecotoxicity data currently available.

4 keywords, Norwegian		4 keywords, English				
1.	CO ₂ fangst	1.	CO ₂ capture Risk assessment amine nitrosamine			
2.	Risiko analyse	2.				
3.	aminer	3.				
4.	nitrosaminer	4.				

Richard Wright
Project manager

Kevin V Thomas
Research manager

ISBN 978-82-577-5433-4

Vanl Nysand

Jarle Nygard
Strategy Director

CO₂ and Amines

The toxicity of selected amines and secondary products to aquatic organisms

A review

Preface

CO₂ capture and storage has been proposed for the two Norwegian gasfired power plants as a means of reducing CO₂ emissions to the atmosphere and thus reducing the main driver of global warming. A leading technology for CO₂ capture uses amines. In this process a small fraction of the amines is lost in the stack gas and emitted to the atmosphere. Secondary products such as amides, nitrosamines and nitramines may be formed in the CO₂ capture process, the stack gases and in the atmosphere. A consortium of Norwegian research institutes led by the Norwegian Institute for Air Research (NILU) has conducted a literature study of the possible adverse environmental impacts of these emissions to air. The work was supported by StatoilHydro, Shell Technology Norway, Gassnova A/S and the Research Council of Norway (CLIMIT programme). This report is a review of the current available literature on the ecotoxicity of selected amines and secondary products to freshwater animals and plants. In cases where no data for freshwater organisms were found, equivalent data for marine organisms were included where available.

Oslo, November 2008

Richard F. Wright

Contents

Summary	5
1. Glossary	6
2. Scope of work	6
3. Concentrations of selected amines and nitrosamines in freshwater	8
4. Acute toxicity of amines and secondary products to aquatic	
species	9
4.1 Fish – Acute toxicity	10
4.2 Invertebrates – Acute toxicity	11
4.3 Algae/bacteria – Acute toxicity	12
5. Chronic toxicity of amines and secondary products to aquatic	
species	16
5.1 Fish – Chronic toxicity	16
5.2 Invertebrates – Chronic effects	17
5.3 Algae/bacteria – Chronic effects	18
6. Summary of toxicity data	19
7. Risk Assessment of amines and nitrosamines	20
8. Gaps in our understanding and further research requirements	21
9. References	22

Summary

The following report is a review of the current available literature on the ecotoxicity of selected amines and secondary products to freshwater animals and plants. In cases where no data for freshwater organisms were found, equivalent data for marine organisms were included. This review is not a comprehensive list of amine toxicity, but focuses on the toxicity of compounds that will be potentially emitted to the environment by the process of CO₂ capturing using selected amine compounds (MEA, MDEA, AMP, PIPA). The main secondary products include amides (formamide and acetamide), nitrosamines and nitramines. This report has highlighted some areas where ecotoxicity data on the specific chemicals are limited or unavailable. Of the data that are available the most sensitive response to amine exposure was found in chronic studies with fish and algae with a LOEC of 0.5 mg/L MDEA and 0.75 mg/L MEA respectively. For nitrosamines, the most toxic effect was found in algae with a LOEC of 0.025 mg/L NDMA, which was the lowest effect concentration found for all compounds and test species. The highest toxicity of nitramines was found at 0.2 mg/L and 0.4 mg/L CL-20 in fish and invertebrates respectively. Due to the limited data available for many of the chemicals, an uncertainty factor of 1000 was applied. Using the simple risk assessment equation (PEC/PNEC = RF), it was estimated that environmental concentrations that exceed the following threshold concentrations could potentially cause environmental harm (i.e. 500 ng/L amines; 1200 ng/L amides, 200 ng/L nitramine, 25 ng/L nitrosamine). It was concluded that nitramines and nitrosamines were the most toxic with the highest risk for causing environmental harm. However, most of the toxicity data for these two groups was not for the specific chemicals calculated in Task 3, but rather inferred toxicity from related compounds. Therefore, it is suggested that future ecotoxicity work should focus on these specific, potentially high risk chemicals for which there are no ecotoxicity data currently available.

1. Glossary

AMP 2-amino-2methylpropanol

CL-20 2,4,6,8,10,12-hexanitro-2,4,6,8,10,12-hexaazaisowurtzitane

EC50 Effect concentration at which 50% of the population are effected

FW Fresh water

HMX Octahydro-1,3,5,7-tetranitro-1,3,5,7-tetrazocine

IC50 Inhibition concentration at 50% inhibition

LC50 Lethal concentration at which 50% of the population are killed

LOEC Lowest observable effect concentration

MDEA Methyldiethanolamine

MEA Ethanolamine

NDEA N-nitrosdiethylamine
NDMA N-nitrosodimethylamine
NDPA N-nitroso-diphenylamine

NOEC No observable effect concentration

NPYR N-nitrosopyrrolidine

PEC Predicted environmental concentration

PIPA Piperazine

PNEC Predicted no effect concentration

RDX Hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine

RF Risk factor
SW Sea water

2. Scope of work

The following is a review of the current literature on the toxicity of selected amines and secondary products to freshwater organisms. In cases where no data for freshwater organisms were found, equivalent data for marine organisms were included. This review is not intended to be a comprehensive list, but focuses on the amine compounds that will be considered for use in carbon dioxide (CO₂) sequestration. These amine compounds include:

CAS number:

1) Ethanolamine (MEA) 141-43-5 2) 2-amino-2methylpropanol (AMP) 124-68-5 3) Methyldiethanolamine (MDEA) 105-59-5

4) Piperazine (PIPA) 110-85-0

In addition, the atmospheric degradation of these compounds following their use in the CO₂ capturing process within a gas fuelled power station was calculated by the University of Oslo in Task 3. The stable compounds following atmospheric degradation of the main amines are listed in table 1. These compounds include acetamide(s), formamide(s), nitrosamines and nitramines.

Table 1. List of the stable compounds following atmospheric degradation of the four selected amines (i.e. MEA, AMP, MDEA, PIPA) (Information from Task 3).

Compound	Formula	CAS number
Acetamide	C ₂ H ₅ N O	60-35-5
Formamide	C H₃ N O	75-12-7
Ethyl, 2-hydroxy-1-oxo-	C ₂ H ₄ O ₂	107031-65-2
N-methylene-Methanamine	C ₂ H ₅ N	1761-67-7
Formamide, N-Formyl-N-Methyl-	C H₃ N O	75-12-7
Formamide, N,N-Dimethyl-	C ₃ H ₇ N O	68-12-2
Acetamide, N-Methyl-	C ₂ H ₇ N O	79-16-3
Acetamide, N,N-Dimethyl-	C ₄ H ₉ N O	127-19-5
Formamide, N,N-Diethyl-	C ₅ H ₁₁ N O	617-84-5
Acetamide, N,N-Diethyl-	C ₆ H ₁₃ N O	685-91-6
Nitramines & Nitrosamines		- 1
Methanamine, N-Nitroso-	C H ₄ N ₂ O	64768-29-2
Methanamine, N-nitro-	C H ₄ N ₂ O ₂	598-57-2
Methanamine, N-Methyl-N-nitroso-	C ₂ H ₆ N ₂ O	62-75-9
Methanamine, N-Methyl-N-nitro-	C ₂ H ₆ N ₂ O ₂	4164-28-7
Methanol., (methylnitroamino)-	C ₂ H ₆ N ₂ O ₃	32818-80-7
Ethanamine, N-ethyl-N-Nitroso-	C ₄ H ₁₀ N ₂ O	55-18-5
Ethanamine, N-ethyl-N-Nitro-	C ₄ H ₁₀ N ₂ O ₂	7119-92-8

A literature search of the known ecotoxicological effects of these compounds to freshwater organisms has been carried out and data presented where available. However, for many of the compounds listed in **Table 1** no toxicity data were available. In these instances data have been included for the model compounds within each of the main groups in order to infer toxicity from similar related compounds. For example, nitramine toxicity data were available for the monocyclic nitramines RDX and HMX, and polycyclic nitramine CL-20, all of which are used by the military as explosives.

3. Concentrations of selected amines and nitrosamines in freshwater

Data on the concentrations of amine and nitrosamine compounds in freshwater are limited. Due to the hydrophilic nature of these compounds there will be a tendency for them to remain in solution rather than partition into other phases such as animal tissues or sediments. However, due to the short half-life of amines in water (days to weeks); the concentrations of these compounds in freshwaters are often low or undetected. The data that were available have been compiled in **Table 2**. For the four selected amines no environmental data were found. Data were found for two other amine compounds (piperidine & pyrrolidine) with maximum river water concentrations of $9 \mu g/L$ (Neurath et al. 1977).

Table 2. Amines and nitrosamine concentrations in the aquatic environment

	Compound	Concentration	Reference
Amines	MEA, MDEA, AMP, PIPA	No data available	
	Piperidine	Up to 9 μg/L in (river water)	Neurath et al., 1977
	Pyrrolidine	0.9–2.5 μg/L (river water)	Neurath et al; 1977
		14 μg/L (primary effluent)	Scully et al., 1987
		6 μg/kg (Cod eggs)	Hamano et al; 1981
Amide	Acetamide	31 μg/L (landfill leachate)	Yasuhara et al., 1993
	Formamide	2 mg/L (effluent water)	US EPA, 1981
Nitrosamines	N-nitrosodi-n-propylamine	0.12-2.8 μg/L (waste water)	IARC, 1978
	N-nitrosopyrrolidine	0-3 μg/kg (UK fish)	IARC, 1978
		2-37 μg/kg (HK fish)	IARC, 1978
		0.09-0.02 μg/L (effluent water)	IARC, 1978
		1.3-4.2 µg/L (sewage sludge)	Mumma et al., 1984
	N-nitrosodimethylamine	10 ng/L (US drinking water)	(Najm & Trussel,
	(NDMA)		2001, Mitch et al.
			2003a)
Nitramine	RDX	Ground water: 9-100 µg/L US Army	Spalding et al., 1988
		ammunition plant (AAP)	
		20-780 μg/L Milan AAP	Ryon et al., 1984
		1.9 mg/L Milan AAP	Best et al., 1999
		Surface water: 0.1-0.15 mg/L US	Small & Rosenblatt,
		APP	1974
		Up to 109 mg/L near Milan APP	Ryon et al., 1984
	HMX	Ground water: up to 208 μg/L	Lewin et al., 1997

For nitrosamines, river water concentrations of N-nitrosopyrrolidine were found up to $0.02~\mu g/L$, and they have been found as high as $37~\mu g/kg$ in fish tissues from Hong Kong (IARC, 1978). N-nitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) has been detected in drinking water in California, USA at a concentration of 10~ng/L (Najm & Trussel, 2001; Mitch et al., 2003a). This concentration was found downstream from a highly treated municipal waste effluent and was above the regulatory guidelines on NDMA concentrations in drinking water in the State of California (i.e. 8~ng/L, Najm & Trussel, 2001, Mitch et al. 2003a).

High environmental concentrations of nitramines (RDX and HMX) have been found in both ground and surface waters near to army ammunition plants. Concentrations as high as 109 mg/L and 208 µg/L have been reported for RDX and HMX respectively (Ryon et al., 1984; Lewin et al., 1997). This is due to the frequent use of both RDX and HMX as an important ingredient in explosives.

4. Acute toxicity of amines and secondary products to aquatic species

The application of both acute and chronic toxicity tests is an effective tool commonly used by regulators and scientists for assessing the potential risk of environmental chemicals to aquatic organisms. Acute effects tend to measure the organism's response following short term exposure to relatively high concentrations, whereas chronic effects measure an organism's response to longer term exposures at lower and more-environmentally realistic concentrations. By combining both acute and chronic toxicity data, a better understanding of the potential toxicity of a wide range of compounds can be achieved. This approach can also improve the reliability of the environmental risk assessment for a particular chemical. In the current review, chronic toxicity data were taken from tests that reported exposure durations of greater than six days.

An important consideration when evaluating the data is that toxicity tests are often carried out in controlled laboratory environments with single compounds. Consequently, such measurements can only provide information on the environmental risk of a specific compound, since environmental interactions including synergistic and/or antagonistic effects with other naturally occurring and/or anthropogenic compounds can not be accounted for.

The selected compounds within this review have been classified into the four main compound groups including; amines, amides, nitrosamines, and nitramines. However, it is important to note that the

physico-chemical properties of the compounds within these groups can differ markedly from each other, which in turn can have significant effects on the compounds toxicity. For example, differences in the partition coefficients between compounds can influence the bioavailability and toxicity to aquatic organisms. The absence of physico-chemical data for the compounds, particularly for nitrosamines and nitramines, prevents the chemicals from being grouped in this way. It is suggested that the chemical toxicity value generated for each group should only be taken as a guideline in cases where the toxicity data for the specific compound(s) is not available.

The main emphasis of the review is targeted towards freshwater species, although data are also presented on marine species, particularly in cases where data for freshwater organisms were not available. The ecotoxicity data are separated into the main organism groups including fish, invertebrates and algae/bacteria. The difference in toxicity between these groups has been evaluated. The absence of ecotoxicological data from the following tables can be used to highlight knowledge gaps and to identify potential areas for further work for an improved risk assessment.

4.1 Fish – Acute toxicity

The acute toxicity of amines to freshwater fish is shown in **Table 3**. A wide range of toxicity values were recorded for the four selected amine compounds. For MEA, the early life stage (eggs) of the Zebra fish (*Danio danio*) were the most sensitive with a 96h LC50 of 60.3 mg/L MEA. For adult fish, the LC50 concentrations ranged from 167 mg/L in the rainbow trout (*Salmo gairdneri*) to 375 mg/L in Western Mosquito fish (*Gambusia affinis*). Only one data point was available for AMP toxicity to fish with an estimated EC50 concentration >100 mg/L. For MDEA, high 96h LC50 values were reported in the Orfe (*Leuciscus idus*) ranging from 100 to 2200 mg/L. The lowest LC50 concentration for all amines was reported in Carp (Cyprinidae) following exposure to PIPA, with an LC50 of 52 mg/L (Loeb & Kelly, 1963).

The acute toxicity of the amides, formamide and acetamide to freshwater fish revealed extremely high LC50 values. The LC50 of formamide ranged between 10,000 to 26,300 mg/L in the adult carp and Western mosquito fish (Juhnke & Luedemann, 1978; Wallen et al. 1957).

The available toxicity data of nitrosamine to freshwater fish showed a large range of LC50 concentrations. The most sensitive response was shown in the Blue gill (*Lepomis macrochirus*) with a 24h LC50 of 5.85 mg/L following exposure to N-nitroso-diphenylamine (NDPA, US EPA, 1978). However, the LC50 values of nitrosamines taken from other studies were markedly higher ranging between 775 to 3300 mg/L (Ferraro et al., 1977; Draper & Brewer, 1979).

Due to the absence of toxicity data for the nitramines listed in **Table 1**, model nitramine compounds HMX and RDX were chosen to represent the chemical group. These nitramines are used regularly by the military as an explosive; as a result a reasonably large amount of aquatic toxicity data were available.

The toxicity of RDX to three freshwater fish species ranged between an LC50 of 3.6 to 26 mg/L (Mukhi et al., 2005, Hovatter et al., 1997, Bentley et al., 1977). Similar levels of toxicity (16-32 mg/L) were also reported in the Fathead minnow (*Pimephales promelas*) following exposure to HMX (Bentley et al., 1977).

Overall, from the data collected, the acute toxicity of the amines and secondary products to the freshwater fish were ranked as nitramines>nitrosamines>amines>amides, with the lowest lethal concentration (96h LC50) recorded at 3.6 mg/L RDX in the Blue gill (*Lepomis macrochirus*).

4.2 Invertebrates – Acute toxicity

The acute toxicity of amines to freshwater invertebrates is shown in **Table 4**. For the four amine compounds the LC50 concentrations ranged between 10 and 250 mg/L, with the most toxic effect found in the water flea (*Daphnia magna*) when exposed to PIPA.

The acute toxicity of the amides (formamide and acetamide), revealed a wide range of LC50 values. The LC50 of acetamide for *D. magna* was 10,000 mg/L (Bringmann & Kuhn, 1977). For formamide a 48h LC50 concentration of 13 mg/L for *D. magna* was reported (Le Blanc & Surprenant, 1983), although a separate study found a 48h LC50 of 500 mg/L in the same species (EPA, 2004).

The available toxicity data for nitrosamines to freshwater invertebrates demonstrated a large range of LC50 concentrations. The most sensitive response was found in an unspecified Cladoceran species with a 48h LC50 of 7.76 mg/L following exposure to NDPA (US EPA, 1978). The 96h LC50 values for NDMA ranged from 300 mg/L in the amphipod, *Gammarus limnaeus* (Draper & Brewer, 1979) to 2250 mg/L in the Crayfish, *Austropotamobius pallipes* (Alibaud et al., 1985). For NDEA, 96h LC50 values ranged from 203 mg/L to 1490 mg/L with *A. pallipes* being the most sensitive invertebrate species measured (Alibaud et al., 1985).

The toxicity of nitramines to invertebrates was distinctly higher than for the other chemical groups. For the nitramine RDX, the most sensitive species measured was the water flea, (*Ceriodaphnia dubia*)

with a lowest observable effect concentration (LOEC) of 6.01 mg/L (Peters et al., 1991). The midge, (*Chironomus tentans*) had a 48h LC50 concentration of 15 mg/L (Hovatter et al., 1997).

4.3 Algae/bacteria – Acute toxicity

The acute toxicity of the selected amines to freshwater and marine algae and bacteria is shown in **Table 5**. For MEA, the LC50 concentrations ranged between 6 and 733 mg/L, with the bacteria (*Vibrio fischeri*) the most sensitive species (Sintef report, 2007; Libralto et al., 2007). This LC50 value of 6 mg/L MEA was the lowest effect concentration found for all four amine compounds, although similarly low LC50 values of 13 and 20 mg/L were found in *V. fischeri* as a response to PIPA and AMP exposure respectively (Sintef report, 2007).

The toxicity data for acetamide showed large variations in effect concentrations. The most sensitive toxicity value was reported in the Cryptomonad species (*Chilomonas paramecium*), with a 48h LC50 concentration of 49 mg/L (Bringmann et al., 1980). However, most other acetamide toxicity values were significantly higher with a LOEC value of 6,200 mg/L and 10,000 mg/L for the blue-green algae, *Microcystis aeruginosa*, and the green algae, *Scenedesmus quadricauda*, respectively.

Acute toxicity data for freshwater or marine algae/bacteria were not available for nitrosamine compounds and are thus not reported. The toxicity of the nitramines to the algae was higher than for the other chemical groups. For the nitramine RDX, a 96h LC50 value of 3.2-10 mg/L was measured in *M. aeruginosa*, and *S. quadricauda* respectively (Hovatter et al., 1997).

Table 3. Acute toxicity of selected amines and secondary products to freshwater fish. Data obtained from PAN and TOXNET databases, peer reviewed journals and web links.

Compound	Fish	EC/LC50 (mg/L)						Source
	. 1911	NOEC	24h	48 h	72h	96h	24h	
Amines								
MEA	Goldfish (Carassius auratus)		190			170		Birdie et al., 1979
	Western mosquito fish (Gambusia affinis)		375	360	350	338		Verschueren, 2001
	Blue gill (Lepomis macrochirus)		338	366	346	300-329		Verschueren, 2001
	Rainbow Trout (Salmo gairdneri)		175	150		167		Mayer et al., 1986
	Zebra fish - eggs (Danio rerio)	20				60.3	100	Groth et al. 1993
AMP	Fish sp, (not specified)	100				>100		Web Link 1
MDEA	Fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas)					1200		Web Link 2
	Fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas)					1000		Web Link 3
	Orfe (Leuciscus idus)					100-2200		Web Link 3
PIPA	Carp (Cyprinidae)				52-159			Loeb & Kelly, 1963
	Guppy (Poecilia reticulata)	100				>100		Web Link 4
Amides								
Acetamide	Western mosquito fish (Gambusia affinis)		26,300	26,300		13,300		Wallen et al. 1957
	Carp (Cyprinidae)			10,000				Juhnke & Luedemann, 1978
Formamide	Fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas)					5,000-10,000		EPA, 2004. doc: 201-15159A
Nitrosamines								
NDPA	Blue gill (Lepomis macrochirus)		5.85					US EPA, 1978
	Mummichog (Fundulus heteroclitus)		3,300*					Ferraro et al., 1977
NDMA	Rainbow Trout (Salmo gairdneri)					1770		Verschueren, 1996
	Fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas)					940		Draper & Brewer, 1979
NDEA	Fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas)					775		Draper & Brewer, 1979
Nitramines		_		_			_	
RDX	Blue gill (Lepomis macrochirus)					3.6		Bentley et al., 1977
	Zebrafish (Danio rerio)	13-15				23-26		Mukhi et al., 2005
	Rainbow Trout (Salmo gairdneri)					3.6-13		Hovatter et al., 199
НМХ	Fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas)					15-32		Bentley et al., 1977

Web Link (WL) 1. http://www.jtbaker.com/msds/englishhtml/a4572.h

^{*} seawater species

 $WL\ 2.\ http://www.optimal.com.my/pdf/Gas_Treating_Ethanolamines/MDE01_MDEA.pdf$

 $WL\ 3.\ http://www.elementis-specialties.com/index.asp? fuse action=Industries.getwercs \& Product Code=10898 \& Lang=EN\& SubFormat=ANSIA and SubFormation and$

 $WL\ 4.\ http://www.ethyleneamines.com/NR/rdonlyres/0F711045-D7C1-4979-8286-032FF5C01636/0/PIP_Anh.pdf$

Table 4. Acute toxicity of selected amines and secondary products to aquatic invertebrates. Data obtained from PAN and TOXNET databases, peer reviewed journals and web links.

Camma	las controls mate	SW/		EC10/	EC/L	C50 (mg/L)	Source
Compound	Invertebrate	FW	NOEC	LOEC	24h	48 h	96h	
Amines								
MEA	Water flea (Daphnia magna)	FW			83.6-165			Bringmann & Kuhn, 1977
	Brown shrimp (Crangon crangon)	sw				100		MAFF, 1971
AMP	Water flea (Daphnia magna)	FW	100			>100		Web link1
MDEA	Water flea (Daphnia magna) Water flea	FW				250		Web link2
	(Daphnia magna) Water flea	FW				230		Web link3
PIPA	(Daphnia magna)	FW				10-100		Web link 4
Amides	•							
Acetamide	Water flea (Daphnia magna)	FW			10,000			Bringmann & Kuhn, 1977
Formamide	Water flea	FW				13		Le Blanc & Surprenant, 1983
	(Daphnia magna)					500		EPA, 2004. doc: 201-15159A
Nitrosamine								
NDPA	Cladoceran sp.	FW				7.76		US EPA, 1978
NDMA	Amphipod (Gammarus limnaeus)	FW					300	Draper & Brewer, 1979
	Crayfish (Austropotamobius pallipes)	FW					2250	Alibaud et al., 1985
	Flatworm (Dugesia dorotocephala)	FW					1365	Draper & Brewer, 1979
NDEA	Amphipod (Gammarus limnaeus)	FW					500	Draper & Brewer, 1979
	Crayfish (Austropotamobius pallipes)	FW					230	Alibaud et al., 1985
	Flatworm (Dugesia dorotocephala)	FW					1490	Draper & Brewer, 1979
Nitramines								
RDX	Mussel (Mytilus galloprovincialis)	sw						
	Adult survival (96h)		28.4	>28.4				Rosena & Lotufo, 2007
	Adult byssus (48h)		28.4	>28.4				Rosena & Lotufo, 2007
	Mussel embryo development (48h)		31	>31				Rosena & Lotufo, 2007
	Water Flea (Ceriodaphnia dubia)	FW	3.64	6.01				Peters et al., 1991
	Midge (Chironomus tentans)	FW				15-100		Hovatter et al., 1997
НМХ	Mussel (Mytilus galloprovincialis)	sw						
	Adult survival (96h)		1.9	>1.9				Rosena & Lotufo, 2007
	Adult byssus (48h)		1.9	>1.9				Rosena & Lotufo, 2007
	Mussel embryo development (48h)		1.97	>1.97				Rosena & Lotufo, 2007

Web link (WL) 1. http://www.jtbaker.com/msds/englishhtml/a4572.h

 $WL\ 2.\ http://www.optimal.com.my/pdf/Gas_Treating_Ethanolamines/MDE01_MDEA.pdf$

 $WL\ 3.\ http://www.element is-special ties.com/index.asp? fuse action=Industries.getwercs \& Product Code=10898 \& Lang=EN\& SubFormat=ANSIA and Su$

 $WL\ 4.\ http://www.ethyleneamines.com/NR/rdonlyres/0F711045-D7C1-4979-8286-032FF5C01636/0/PIP_Anh.pdf$

Table 5. Acute toxicity of selected amines and secondary products to aquatic algae and bacteria. Data obtained from PAN and TOXNET databases, peer reviewed journals and web links.

	from PAN and TOXN	SW					C/LC50 (mg			_
Amines	Algae/Bacteria	FW	LOEC	EC10	15min	24h	48 h	72h	96h	Source
MEA	Marine algae (Skeletonema costatum)	SW		83.1			198			Sintef Report, 2007
	Microtox (Vibrio fischeri)	SW			6-39					Sintef Report, 2007 Libralto et al 2007
	Haptophyte (Isochrysis galbana)	SW					80-160		80	Roseth et al., 1996;
	Green algae (Chlorococcales)	FW	31			70				Krebs, 1991
	Cryptomonad (Chilomonas paramecium)	SW					733			Bringmann et al 1980
	Flagellate (Entosiphon sulcatum)	FW						300		Bringmann & Kuhn 1980
AMP	Marine algae (Skeletonema costatum)	SW		64.8			118.6			Sintef Report, 2007
	Microtox (Vibrio fischeri)	SW			20					Sintef Report, 2007
MDEA	Marine algae (Skeletonema costatum)	SW		72.7			141.4			Sintef Report, 2007
	Microtox (Vibrio fischeri)	SW			36					Sintef Report, 2007
	Green algae (Scenedesmus subspicatus)	FW							20	Web link3
PIPA	Skeletonema Microtox, Vibrio fischeri	SW SW		315.8	13		472.2			Sintef Report, 2007 Sintef Report, 2007
	Green algae (Selenastrum capricornutum)	FW						>1000		Web link4
Amide										
Acetamide	Green algae (Chlorococcales)	FW		1,000		1,000				Krebs, 1991
	Cryptomonad (Chilomonas paramecium)	SW					49			Bringmann et al., 1980
	Flagellate (Entosiphon sulcatum)	FW						99		Bringmann & Kuhn, 1980
	Blue-green algae (Microcystis aeruginosa)	FW	6,200							Bringmann & Kuhn, 1978
	Green algae (Scenedesmus quadricauda)	FW	10,000							Bringmann & Kuhn, 1978
Formamide	Green algae	FW						8000		EPA, 2004. doc: 201- 15159A
Nitramines										
CL-20	Green algae Selenastrum capricornutum	FW							> 3.6 1	Gong et al., 2004
	Microtox (Vibrio fischeri)	sw							> 3.6 ¹	Gong et al., 2004
RDX	Blue-green algae (Microcystis aeruginosa)	FW							3.2-10	Hovatter et al., 1997
	Green algae (Selenastrum capricornutum)	FW							3.2-10	Hovatter et al., 1997
НМХ	Blue-green algae (Microcystis aeruginosa)	FW							>32	Hovatter et al., 1997
	FW green algae Selenastrum capricornutum	FW			duatria a mat				>32	Hovatter et al., 1997

WL 3. http://www.elementis-specialties.com/index.asp?fuseaction=Industries.getwercs&ProductCode=10898&Lang=EN&SubFormat= ANSI

 $WL\ 4.\ http://www.ethyleneamines.com/NR/rdonlyres/0F711045-D7C1-4979-8286-032FF5C01636/0/PIP_Anh.pdf$

5. Chronic toxicity of amines and secondary products to aquatic species

The chronic effects of the selected amines and their secondary products to aquatic organisms have been poorly studied when compared to the acute effects. The chronic toxicity of these compounds to freshwater fish, invertebrates and algae/bacteria are shown in **Table 6**, **Table 7**, and **Table 8**. Chronic effects were considered as those effects that would result following exposure to the test compound for greater than six days.

5.1 Fish – Chronic toxicity

For the amines, chronic exposure data was only available for MDEA and PIPA. A decrease in egg hatching was observed in Carp exposed to 0.5 mg/L MDEA and greater (Bieniarz et al., 1996). No effect on the schooling behaviour of the fish, *Kuhlia sandvicensis* was reported when exposed to PIPA concentrations up to 20 mg/L (Hiatt et al., 1953).

Table 6. Chronic toxicity of amines and secondary products to aquatic fish spp.

Compound	Fish	Endpoint	mg/L (*mg/kg)	Reference
Amines				
MDEA	Carp (Cyprinidae)	Decrease in egg hatching - LOEC	0.5	Bieniarz et al., 1996
PIPA	Aholehole (Kuhlia sandvicensis)	Behavioural changes (schooling) - NOEC	20	Hiatt et al., 1953
Nitrosamine				
NDMA	Rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss)	52 week exposure - presence of hepatocellular carcinomas - LOEC	*200	Grieco et al., 1978
Nitramines				_
CL-20	Fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas)	Growth IC50	0.2-2.0	Hayley et al., 2002; 2003
RDX	Fathead minnow (Pimephales promelas)	Growth effects - early development (LOEC)	5.8	Bentley et al., 1977
		Survival chronic exposure (LOEC)	4.9-6.3	Bentley et al., 1977
		Growth effects after 28 days (LOEC)	2.4	Burton et al., 1994
	Zebra fish (Danio rerio)	Effects on body weight after 4 weeks (LOEC)	1	Mukhi & Patiño, 2008
		Significant increase in mortality (LOEC)	9.6	Mukhi & Patiño, 2008

Only one study was found that provides toxicity data on the chronic effects of nitrosamines to aquatic fish. In this case, rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) were exposed to NDMA, via the diet, for a 52 week period. After this time an increase in the presence of hepatocellular carcinomas was observed at the lowest exposure concentration of 200 mg/kg.

The chronic toxicity values for nitramines, CL-20 and RDX were reported in selected freshwater fish. Growth effects were observed in Fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*) exposed to concentrations of CL-20 with an IC50 concentration of 0.2-2.0 mg/L (Hayley et al., 2002; 2003).

Growth effects were also found in *P. promelas* when exposed to chronic concentrations of RDX with LOEC values of 2.4 and 5.8 mg/L (Burton et al., 1994 and Bentley et al., 1977). In addition, a four week chronic exposure of the zebra fish (*Danio danio*) to RDX concentrations resulted in adverse effects on body weight (LOEC of 1 mg/L) and an increase in mortality (LOEC- 9.6 mg/L, Mukhi & Patiño, 2008).

5.2 Invertebrates – Chronic effects

The chronic toxicity data for the selected amines and secondary products to the aquatic invertebrate species are limited to a few compounds (**Table 7**). For formamide, the maximum allowable concentration for use as a carrier in chronic toxicity test was estimated at 1.2 to 2.5 mg/L (LeBlanc & Suprenant, 1983), i.e. this concentration and below would have no adverse chronic effects to *D. magna*.

Table 7. Chronic toxicity of amines and secondary products to aquatic invertebrates

Compound	Crustacea	endpoint	value	Reference	
Amide					
Formamide	Daphnia magna	Maximum allowable concentration for chronic toxicity testing	1.2-2.5	Le Blanc & Surprenant, 198	
Nitrosamine					
NDMA	Crayfish (Procambarus clarkii)	Antennal gland degradation - 6mth exposure	200	Harshbarger, et al. (1971)	
	Crayfish (Procambarus clarkii)	Hyperplasia of tubular cells in hepatopancreas- ómth exposure	100	Harshbarger, et al. (1971)	
Nitramines					
CL-20	Water Flea (Ceriodaphnia dubia)	Growth, IC50	0.4-2.0	Hayley et al., 2002; 2003	
RDX	Water Flea (Ceriodaphnia dubia)	7d reproductive effects	4.68	Peters et al 1991	

Six month exposure of the crayfish, *Procambarus clarkii*, to NDMA caused extensive degeneration in all parts of the antennal gland at 200 mg/L and hyperplasia of the tubular cells in the hepatopancreas at 100 mg/L (Harshbarger et al., 1971). For the nitramines, CL-20 and RDX growth and reproductive effects were reported in *C. dubia* at 0.4-2.0 mg/L (Hayley et al., 2003; 2002) and 4.68 mg/L (Peters et al., 1991) respectively.

5.3 Algae/bacteria – Chronic effects

The available chronic toxicity data for the selected amines and secondary products to the algae and bacteria are listed in **Table 8**. MEA is the only amine represented. The most sensitive species to MEA measured as growth effects following 7 and/or 8 day exposure was the green algae (*Scenedesmus quadricauda*) with a LOEC concentration of 0.75 mg/L (Bringmann & Kuhn, 1980; 1978). Similar LOEC values were reported for the blue green algae, *Anacystis aeruginosa* and *Microcystis aeruginosa* (i.e. 1.6 to 2.1 mg/L MEA respectively, Bringmann & Kuhn, 1978; 1975).

Table 8. Chronic toxicity of amines and secondary products to algae and bacteria

Compound	Algae/Bacteria	SW FW	endpoint	(mg/L) value	Reference
Amines					
MEA	Blue-green algae (Anacystis aeruginosa)	FW	8d growth effect (LOEC)	1.6-2.1	Bringmann & Kuhn, 1978.
	Blue-green algae (Anacystis aeruginosa)	FW	8d growth effect (LOEC)	1.6-2.1	Bringmann, 1975
	Green algae (Scenedesmus quadricauda)	FW	8d growth effect (LOEC)	0.75-0.97	Bringmann & Kuhn, 1978.
			7d growth effect (LOEC)	0.75	Bringmann & Kuhn, 1980
	Blue-green algae (Microcystis aeruginosa)	FW	8d growth effect (LOEC)	1.6-2.1	Bringmann & Kuhn, 1978.
Amides					
Acetamide	Blue-green algae (Anacystis aeruginosa)	FW	8d growth effects (EC50)	6,600	Bringmann & Kuhn, 1978
	Green algae (Scenedesmus quadricauda)	FW	7d population changes (EC50)	10,000	Bringmann & Kuhn, 1980
	Green algae (Scenedesmus quadricauda)	FW	8 d population changes (EC50)	10,000	Bringmann & Kuhn, 1978
Nitrosamine					
NDMA	Green algae (Chlamydomonas reinhardtii)	FW	DNA damage (COMET)	1-10	Erbes et al., 1997
	Green algae (Selenastrum capricornutum)	FW	growth effect (LOEC)	1-10	Draper & Brewer, 1979
	Green algae Tetraselmis maculata	sw	Growth effects (7d) - LOEC	0.025	Aubert et al. 1982
NDEA	Green algae (Selenastrum capricornutum)	FW	growth effect LOEC	1-10	Draper & Brewer, 1979

Extremely low levels of toxicity were found for acetamide with growth and population changes in *A. aeruginosa* and *S. quadricauda* following 7-8 day exposure with EC50 values of 6,600 mg/L and 10,000 mg/L respectively (Bringmann & Kuhn, 1980; 1978).

The chronic toxicity data for nitrosamines on algal growth and DNA damage revealed a relatively high level of toxicity. The most sensitive species tested was the marine green algae *Tetraselmis maculate*, with a LOEC value of 0.025 mg/L from tests on growth effects following 7 days exposure (Aubert et al., 1982).

6. Summary of toxicity data

A list of the most sensitive responses for each taxonomic and compound group has been included in **Table 9**. For amines, the most sensitive response was found in the chronic exposure of MDEA to fish (0.5 mg/L), followed closely by chronic exposure of algae to MEA (0.75 mg/L). Chronic exposures of amines to invertebrates were not available for any of the four amine compounds.

For the amides, the highest level of toxicity was found in selected invertebrates with the most sensitive effect found at a chronic exposure at 1.2 mg/L Formamide. Amide toxicity to fish and algae was often three fold higher than the lowest effect in invertebrates.

Table 9. Summary of the most sensitive responses for the four main groups of compounds. (Data expressed as mg/L; — data not available)

Group	Test	MEA	AMP	MDEA	PIPA	Amides (Formamide/ Acetamide)	Nitrosamine	Nitramine
Fish	Acute	20 (NOEC)	100 (LC50)	100 (LC50)	52 (LC50)	5000 (Formamide)	5.85 (NDPA)	3.6 (RDX)
	Chronic	_	_	0.5	20	_	200 (NDMA)	0.2 (CL-20)
Inverte brate	Acute	83.6 (LC50)	100 (NOEC)	230 (LC50)	10 (LC50)	13 (Formamide)	7.76 (NDPA)	6.01 (RDX)
	Chronic	_	_	_	_	1.2 (Formamide)	100 (NDMA)	0.4 (CL-20)
Algae/ Bacteri a	Acute	6 (LC50)	20 (LC50)	20 (LC50)	13 (LC50)	49 (Acetamide)	_	3.2 (RDX)
	Chronic	0.75 (LOEC)	_	_	_	6600 (Acetamide)	0.025 (NDMA)	_

The most toxicity effect for the nitrosamines was found in algae/bacteria exposed to NDMA, with a LOEC of 0.025 mg/L. This was by far the lowest effect concentration found for any of the compounds

included in this review. For the fish and invertebrates, the acute toxicity concentration was lower than the chronic effect concentration. This is contrary to expected data and suggests a shortage of sensitive chronic toxicity tests for nitrosamine compounds.

The lowest effect concentrations reported for nitramines were found at 0.2 mg/L and 0.4 mg/L for chronic exposure to nitramine CL-20 in fish and invertebrates respectively. Although nitramine chronic exposure data was not available for algae, comparison of the lowest effect concentration data available suggests that the toxicity of the nitramines does not differ greatly between the organism groups with lowest effects ranging between 0.2 and 6.01 mg/L.

7. Risk Assessment of amines and nitrosamines

The assessment of contaminant risk in the environment is often carried out using the simple equation.

If the PEC is greater than the PNEC then the RQ will be greater than one. In this case there would be potential for environmental harm and the need for further investigations to take place. Conversely, an RQ < 1 would suggest little or no risk of environmental harm.

The critical values for the assessment of chemical risk have been listed in table 10. The LOEC has been taken from the data tables previously described in this review. The PNEC value has been calculated by dividing the LOEC by the appropriate assessment factor listed in table 10. Determining the appropriate assessment factor was based on the European Union Technical guidance document on risk assessment (ECB, 2003).

Knowledge of the PNEC value and the transformation of equation 1 will provide information of the required PEC value that will produce an RQ of greater than 1. Therefore, inputs from the CO_2 capturing operation into the environment that results in water concentrations greater than the PEC shown in **Table 10** will have the potential to cause environmental harm. For the amines, a water concentration of >7.5 μ g/L MEA, >20 μ g/L AMP, >5 μ g/L MDEA and >100 μ g/L PIPA has the potential to cause environmental harm. For the secondary products a concentration of >24 μ g/L amide, 0.025 μ g/L nitrosamine and >0.2 μ g/L nitramine has the potential to cause environmental harm.

An assessment factor of 1000 has been applied for nitramines and nitrosamines due to the limited ecotoxicological information available on the specific chemicals. For these compounds the toxicity data was inferred from similar related compounds due to the absence of toxicological data on the actual compounds that would be produced from the CO₂ capture process using the model amine compounds. As more ecotoxicological information on the actual compounds becomes available then the reliability of the toxicity endpoints will increase, and the uncertainty factor can be reduced.

Table 10. Critical values for the determination of risk for each of the main chemical groups based on the most sensitive environmental effect measured.

Compound	LOEC	Assessment	Calculated PNEC	Required PEC for an	
	(mg/L)	factor	(µg/L)	RQ >1 (μg/L)	
MEA	0.75	100	7.5	>7.5	
AMP	20	1000	20	>20	
MDEA	0.5	100	5	>5	
PIPA	10	100	100	>100	
Amides	1.2	50	24	>24	
Nitrosamines	0.025	1000	0.025	>0.025	
Nitramines	0.2	1000	0.2	>0.2	

8. Gaps in our understanding and further research requirements

The following review has highlighted several areas where ecotoxicity data are sparse or unavailable. These often relate to the chronic effects of many of the compounds tested such as the chronic effect of amines on invertebrates and fish.

From the data presented in this review it is clear that the most potentially toxic compounds are nitrosamines and nitramines. However, for both of these chemical groups the toxicity data available are not specific to the actual compounds that have been calculated to occur from the CO₂ capture process (Task 3). Therefore, there is a great deal of uncertainty about the aquatic toxicity of these specific nitramine and nitrosamine compounds. It is suggested that future ecotoxicity work focuses on the acute and chronic toxicity of these specific compounds for a better evaluation of the potential impact of the CO2 capturing plant.

9. References

- Alibaud R, Bontoux J, Rambaud A, Lautier J, Chanal JL, 1985. Toxicokinetic and metabolic study of dimethylnitrosamine and diethylnitrosamine in crayfish Austropotamobius pallipes.

 Xenobiotica. 15:1103-1110.
- Aubert J, Petit L, Levrat B, Tafani Ch. 1982. Etude des effets toxiques de composes nitrosoamines visa-vis d'organismes marins. Toxicological European Research. 5: 129-134.
- Bentley RE, LeBlanc GA, Hollister TA, Sleight BH, II. 1977. Acute Toxicity of 1,3,5,7-tetrazocine (HMX) to Aquatic Organisms. Defense Technical Information Center OAI-PMH Repository (US)
- Best EPH, Sprecher SL, Larson SL, Fredrickson HL, Bader DF, 1999. Environmental behavior of explosives in groundwater in groundwater from the Milan army ammunition plant in aquatic and wetland plant treatments. Removal, mass balances and fate in groundwater of TNT and RDX. Chemosphere, 38:3383-3396.
- Bieniarz K, Epler P, Kime D, Sokolowska-Mikolajczyk M, Popek W, Mikolajczyk T. 1996. Effects of N,N-dimethylnitrosamine (DMNA) on in vitro oocyte maturation and embryonic development of fertilized eggs of carp (Cyprinus carpio L.) kept in eutrophied ponds. J Appl Toxicol. 1996 Mar-Apr;16(2):153
- Birdie AL, Wolfe CJM, Winter M, 1979. The acute toxicity of some petrochemicals to goldfish. Water Res 13: 623-6.
- Bringmann G, 1975. Determination of the biologically harmful effect of water pollutants by means of the retardation of cell proliferation of the blue algae Microcystis.Gesund.Ing. 96(9):238-241.
- Bringmann G, Kuhn R, 1977. The effects of water pollutants on Daphnia magna. Wasser-Abwasser-Forsch. 10(5):161-166.
- Bringmann G, Kuhn R, 1978. Testing of substances for their toxicity threshold: Model organisms Microcystis (Diplocystis) aeruginosa and Scenedesmus quadricauda.

 Mitt.Int.Ver.Theor.Angew.Limnol. 21:275-284
- Bringmann G, Kuhn R, 1980. Comparison of the toxicity thresholds of water pollutants to bacteria, algae, and protozoa in the cell multiplication inhibition test. Water Res. 14(3):231-241.
- Bringmann G, Kuhn R, Winter A, 1980. Determination of biological damage from water pollutants to protozoa. III. Saprozoic flagellates. Z.Wasser-Abwasser-Forsch. 13(5):170-173.
- Burton DT, Turley SD, Peters GT, 1994. The acute and chronic toxicity of hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX) too the fathead minnow, Pimephales promelas. Chemosphere 29, 567-579.
- Draper AC, Brewer WS, 1979. Measurement of the aquatic toxicity of volatile nitrosamines. J. Toxicol. Environ. Health. 5(6):985-993

- Environmental Protection Agency (EPA), 2004. doc 201-15159A
- European Chemicals Bureau (ECB), 2003. Technical Guidance document on Risk Assessment, Part 2. European commission Joint Research Centre. EUR 20418 EN/2.
- Erbes M, Wessler A, Obst U, Wild A, 1997. Detection of primary DNA damage in Chlamydomonas reinhardtii by means of modified microgel electrophoresis. Environ Mol Mutagen. 30 (4):448-58.
- Ferraro LA, Wolke RE, Yevich PP, 1977. Acute toxicity of water-borne dimethylnitrosamine (DMN) to Fundulus heteroclitus (L). Jour. Fish Biol. 10: 203.
- Gong P, Sunahara GI, Rocheleau S, Dodard SG, Robidoux PY, Hawari J, 2004. Preliminary ecotoxicological characterization of a new energetic substance, CL-20 q. Chemosphere 56:653–658.
- Grieco MP, et al. 1978. Carcinogenicity and acute toxicity of dimethylnitrosamine in rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri). Jour. Natl. Cancer Inst. 60: 1127.
- Groth G, Schreeb K, Herdt V, Freundt KJ, 1993. Toxicity studies in fertilized zebrafish eggs treated with N-methylamine, N,N-dimethylamine, 2-aminoethanol, isopropylamine, aniline, N-methylaniline, N,N-dimethylaniline, quinone, chloroacetaldehyde, or cyclohexanol. 50:878-882.
- Hamano T, Mitsuhashi Y, Matsui Y. 1981. Agric. Biol.Chem., 45:2237.
- Harshbarger JC, et al. 1971. Effects of N-nitrosodimethylamine on the crayfish, Procambarus clarkii. In: Proceedings of the Fourth International Colloauium on Insect Pathology, College Park, Maryland, August 25-28, 1970. p. 425.
- Hiatt RW, Naughton JJ, Matthews DC, 1953. Effects of chemicals on a schooling fish, Kuhlia sandvicensis. Biol Bull, 104:28-44.
- Haley M, Kurnas C, Chester N, Anthony J, Kuperman R, Checkai R, 2003. Aquatic ecotoxicity of the new energetic material CL-20: Preliminary results. (PT019). SETAC 2003 conference Abstract.
- Haley MV, Anthony JS, Davis EA, Kurnas CW, Kuperman RG, Checkai RT. 2002. Toxicity of the Cyclic Nitramine Energetic Material CL-20 to Aquatic Receptors. Final Report. Edgewood Chemical Biological Center, Aberdeen.
- Hovatter PS, Talmage SS, Opresko DM, Ross RH, 1997. Ecotoxicology of nitroaromatics to aquatic and terrestrial species at army superfund sites. Environmental toxicology and risk assessment (6th Vol.) ASTM STP 1317, Dwyer, Doane, Hinman Eds. American Society for testing and materials.
- IARC, 1978. Monographs on the Evaluation of the Carcinogenic Risk of Chemicals to Man. Geneva: World Health Organization, International Agency for Research on Cancer, 1972-PRESENT. (Multivolume work)., p. V17 178.

- Juhnke I, Luedemann D, 1978. Results of the Investigation of 200 Chemical Compounds for Acute Fish Toxicity with the Golden Orfe Test. Z.Wasser-Abwasser-Forsch. 11(5):161-164 (GER) (ENG TRANSL) (OECDG Data File)
- Krebs F, 1991. Bestimmung der biologischen Schadwirkung Wassergefahrdender Stoffe im Assimilations-Zehrungs-Test (A-Z-Test). Deutsche Gewasserkundliche Mitteilungen 35(5/6):161-170
- Le Blanc GA, Surprenant DC, 1983. The acute and chronic toxicity of acetone, dimethyl formamide, and triethylene glycol to Daphnia magna (Straus). Journal Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 12 (3), 305-310.
- Lewin U, Wennrich L, Efer J, Engewald W, 1997. Determination of highly polar compounds in water samples around former ammunition plants. Chromatographia. 45: 91-8.
- Libraltao G, et al., Evaporation and air stripping to assess the reduce ethanolamine toxicity in oily waste water, J. Hazard. Mater. (2007), doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.09.042
- Loeb HA, Kelly WH, 1963. Acute Oral Toxicity of 1,496 Chemicals Force-Fed to Carp. U.S.Fish.Wildl.Serv., Sp.Sci.Rep.-Fish.No.471, Washington, D.C.:124
- Ministry of Agric.Fish.Food, 1971. Shellfish Information Leaflet No.22 (2nd Ed.) Fish.Lab.Burnham-on-Crouch, Essex, and Fish Exp.Station Conway, North Wales:12 p.
- Mayer FLJ, Ellersieck MR, 1986. Manual of Acute Toxicity: Interpretation and Data Base for 410 Chemicals and 66 Species of Freshwater Animals Resour Publ No.160: 505.
- Mitch WA, Sharp JO, Trussell RR, Valentine RL, Alvarez-Cohen L, Sedlak DL. 2003.

 Nnitrosodimethylamine (NDMA) as a drinking water contaminant: A review. Environ. Eng. Sci. 20:389-404.
- Mukhi S, Patiño R, 2008. Effects of hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine (RDX) in zebrafish: General and reproductive toxicity. Chemosphere 72:726–732
- Mukhi S, Pan X, Cobb GP, Patiño R, 2005. Toxicity of hexahydro-1,3,5-trinitro-1,3,5-triazine to larval zebrafish (Danio rerio). Chemosphere 64:178–185.
- Mumma RO, Raupach DC, Waldman JP, Tong SSC, Jacobs ML, Babish JG, Hotchkiss JH, Wszolek PC, Gutenman WH, Bache CA, Lisk DJ. 1984. National survey of elements and other constituents in municipal sewage sludges. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol 13: 75-83.
- Najm I, Trussel RR, 2001. NDMA formation in water and wastewater, J. Am. Water Works Assoc. 93:92–99.
- Neurath GB, Duenger M, Pein FG, Ambrosius D, Schreiber, O. 1977. Primary and secondary amines in the human environment. Food Cosmet Toxicol, 15:275-82.

- Peters GT, Burton DT, Paulson RL, Turley SD, 1991. The acute and chronic toxicity of Hexahydro-1,3,5-Trinitro-1,3,5-Triazine (RDX) to three freshwater invertebrates. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry. 10:(8)1073-1081.
- Rosena G, Lotufo GR, 2007. Toxicity of explosive compounds to the marine mussel, Mytilus galloprovincialis, in aqueous exposures. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety. 68:(2)228-236.
- Roseth S, Edvardsson T, Botten TM, Fuglestad J, Fonnum F, Stenersen J, 1996. Comparison of acute toxicity of process chemicals used in the oil refinery industry, tested with the diatom Chaetoceros gracilis, the flagellate, Isochrysis galbana, and the zebra fish, Brachydanio rerio. Environ.Toxicol.Chem. 15(7):1211-1217
- Ryon MG, Pal BC, Talmage SS, Ross RH, 1984. Database Assessment of the Health and Environmental Effects of Munition Production Waste Water ORNL-6018 (NTIS DE84-016512)
- Scully FE Jr., Howell GD, Penn HH 1987. Abstracts Amer Chem Soc Div Environ Chem 193rd Natl Mtg 27: 156-8.
- SINTEF Report, 2007. Ecotoxicity testing of amines and relevance to acceptance criteria for discharges to marine environments. SINTEF Materials and Chemistry 21p.
- Small MJ, Rosenblatt DH, 1974. Munitions production products of potential concern as waterborne pollutants phase II. TR-7404 (NTIS AD919031) Aberdeen MD US Army Med Bioeng Res Dev Lab.
- Spalding RF, Fulton JW, 1988. Groundwater munition residues and nitrate near Grand Island, Nebraska, U.S.A. Journal of Contaminant Hydrology, 2:139-53.
- US EPA. 1978. In-depth studies on health and environmental impacts of selected water pollutants. Contract No. 68-01-4646, U. S. EPA, Duluth, MN.
- US EPA 1980. Ambient Water Quality Criteria For Nitrosamines. Office of Water Regulations and Standards Criteria and Standards Division, Washington, D.C.
- US EPA, 1981. Chemical Hazard Information Profile; Draft Report: Formamide Sept. 18, 1981. Washington, DC: Office of Toxic Substances (1981)
- Verschueren K, 1996. Handbook of Environmental Data on Organic Chemicals. 3rd ed. New York, NY: Van Nostrand Reinhold Co., p. 830
- Verschueren K, 2001. Handbook of Environmental Data on Organic Chemicals. Volumes 1-2. 4th ed. John Wiley & Sons. New York, NY. p. 1062.
- Wallen IE, Greer WC, Lasater R, 1957. Toxicity to Gambusia affinis of Certain Pure Chemicals in Turbid Waters. Sewage Ind. Wastes 29(6):695-711
- Yasuhara A et al, 1993. Kankyo Kagaku. 3:356-7.



Gaustadalléen 21 • NO-0349 Oslo, Norway Telephone: +47 22 18 51 00 • Fax: 22 18 52 00 www.niva.no • post@niva.no